Village of Creston Minutes
Tuesday November 4, 2025

President Byro called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. Trustees Elliot, J. Hibshman, M.
Hibshman, Hopkins, Kerns, and Ward were present. Attorney Wilt was also present.

President Byro introduced the minutes from November 4, 2025. Trustee M. Hibshman
made a motion to approve the minutes. Trustee Kerns seconded the motion. President
Byro asked all in favor to vote yea. All present voted yea. He asked all who were not in
favor to vote the same sign. No one responded. Minutes were approved

Visitors & Communications - President Byro asked if anyone in the audience had
anything they wanted to say. No one responded.

President Byro introduced Attorney Wilt. Attorney Wilt said that what he had to discuss
fell under Old Business. He said that he was to have court again on Thursday for the
property at 209 W Depot St so he would more information after that. He said he
requested permission to proceed without personal service. He said that the Village may
have to publish something. The property keeps changing hands and he is trying to
proceed without personal service. The next court date is at 9am on Thursday 11/6.
President Byro said he got something in the mail the other day that he referred to
Attorney Wilt, who is following up on it.

President Byro moved on to Aaron Moore. Aaron said that since the last meeting, he
had 1 shed permit, 2 patio permits, 2 fence permits and a series of inspections for the
ongoing home construction. He did contact the owner of 502 S Pierce St regarding the
sidewalk that doesn’t go through the driveway. He explained that it is the village’s
position that the sidewalk needs to be installed and that falls on the current homeowner
and anything beyond that would be a civil matter. He said he checked his report, and it
said that a temporary inspection was done and that all sidewalks were to be done by
April 2025. The homeowner seemed willing to look into it and thought he could have it
done in early Spring. He said he didn’t know if the Board had a deadline in mind, but the
homeowner’s driveway had settled, and he thought maybe he would redo all of it. Aaron
said it might be Springtime, but the homeowner was willing to look into it.

President Byro moved onto Kevin Bunge, who said that all his items were listed under
Old Business.

President Byro then moved onto Committee Reports. Before proceeding, President
Byro addressed the changes in the Committee Members due to Steve Katzman no
longer being on the Board. He said he moved some people around. He said that
Finance will be Trustee Hopkins and Trustee M. Hibshman.

Finance - President Byro asked if Trustee Hopkins had anything to bring up. President
Byro said that the Village received a check. Trustee Hopkins asked if it was for Tipping
fees and President Byro said it was, and that the Village also got a check for the rent for



the farmland from the landfill. President Byro said that he and Trustee Hopkins would
discuss that later. Trustee Hopkins said he had nothing else.

Streets/Alleys/Sidewalks - Trustee Ward said he had nothing other than to ask if the
Village was ready for winter regarding salt. Curtis Loyd asked if the Village should invest
in carbide shoes for the plow as had been recommended to him. He said that he had
been told that the steel slag that the Village had put on the road would wear the blade
and the current shoes faster. Trustee Ward asked what that would cost. Mr. Loyd said
he had not looked into that yet. He said he was going to get a hold of Bonnell and find
out. He asked Trustee Kerns if they had talked about anything like that for the township.
Trustee Kerns said that regular shoes aren’t that expensive. He said that they run about
$125. Trustee Ward said that if the carbide only last twice as long but are three times
the price, then it’s better to just replace the regular ones as needed. President Byro said
that he noticed that the road had worn off on the other side of the railroad tracks
already. He said that he assumed it was because of the semis. Trustee Elliot said it may
have been from the railroad work that they did. President Byro said that was possible.
Trustee Elliot said he had noticed that, too, and it happened around the time the railroad
repairs were done. President Byro asked if Trustee Ward had anything else and he said
he did not.

Water & Sewer - Trustee Kerns said he had nothing new.

Health & Safety - President Byro mentioned that Trustee J. Hibshman had just agreed
to take over that committee and he appreciated Trustee J. Hibshman’s willingness to do
that. Trustee M. Hibshman said that the only thing he had was for the sidewalk project,
which was later in the meeting.

Zoning & Planning - Trustee Elliot said he had nothing.

Subdivision - Trustee Elliot said that the only thing he had to say about the subdivision
is that it was still looking good out there. President Byro said that he heard from RMU
and that they had received the 9 new lights and were going to start installing them the
following week. He said he didn’t know how long it would take them to install the new
lights as a lot of the wiring would need to be redone. President Byro said he thought that
the Village would look at installing the other 9 in the Spring. Trustee Elliot said that the
new streetlights will be a lot easier on the eyes than the old ones. Trustee Kerns said he
was just happy the streets were lit up.

President Byro said that the corn has been picked on the Village farm from the landfill
and that the landfill had been working back there. He said that the inside berm had
been moved. He said he needed to talk about that more later.

President Byro spoke about Chuck Mathis helping Mr. Loyd with water testing. He also
does snow plowing. President Byro said that the Village would try it out for a couple of
months to see how it goes. He already knows how to do the water samples, and that will



give Mr. Loyd a break once in a while. He said that with all the new homes in the
subdivision, there will be more plowing to do so extra help will be needed.

New Business - President Byro asked the Board members if they had a chance to look
over the Comprehensive Plan. President Byro said that he wanted to sit down and have
a meeting for about an hour to discuss it as a Board. He said he was looking for
recommendations and asked the Board members to think about the future of the
Village. He said that he and Trustee Elliot have been working with the Ogle County
Economic Development Corporation and they have someone from the University of
lllinois extension, and he has students who will help write a new Comprehensive Plan.
He said that the Board needed to decide what they wanted to do. He asked about
roads, and he said that one community pursued internet service for the entire
community. President Byro asked for the Board members to choose a date so that the
Board could get together for about an hour. He said that the board needs to find out
what the library is looking for, as well as the park district and the school. He said that
the Board needs to gather that information so the meeting can happen. He said that the
special meeting would have to be posted. Trustee Elliot suggested having it an hour
before the next Board meeting on 12/2/25. President Byro asked the Board what they
thought. Trustee Ward said that Trustee J. Hibshman would have basketball that night
before the meeting. Trustee J. Hibshman said that he could miss one game. President
Byro said that he would prefer not to do it on a Saturday morning as people are busy.
Trustee Ward said that Tuesdays and Thursdays worked best for him except the
second Tuesday of the month. President Byro asked if an hour before the December
Board meeting would work and everyone agreed that it would. President Byro
suggested 6:00pm and he asked the Board members to bring ideas with them.
President Byro said that he and Trustee Elliot have been working with the ODEDC and
the gentleman from U of | is ready to help the Village write a new Comprehensive Plan.
Trustee Ward asked if it would be a public meeting and President Byro said it would.
President Byro asked Trustee Elliot if he wanted to add anything. Trustee Elliot said
that he didn’t think that the Board needed to reinvent the wheel. He said it is more of a
visionary thing and Mike Delaney is the gentleman from U of |. President Byro said he
showed the current copy of the Comprehensive Plan to Mr. Delaney and he said he had
never seen a Comprehensive Plan like that in his life. Trustee Elliot said that this is
about what the Village wants. Trustee Kerns said it also needs to be realistic. President
Byro said it's what does the Board want to see in 5 years, 10 years. President Byro said
that back when the current plan was written, they didn’t want growth. President Byro
asked the Board members to think about it, and the special public meeting would be at
6pm and then the regular Board meeting would start at 7pm. Kevin Bunge suggested
that the Board consider housing when they create the new plan. He said that a lot of the
considerations for housing took a big left turn because of the subdivision. Trustee
Hopkins said he remembered that one of the conditions was that the garage had to be
set back from the front of the home and that had gone out the window. Kevin said that
the bulk of the things in that plan became part of the Village code and he urged the
Board to give thought to that. Trustee Ward said that a lot of that went through the
planning commission before and Walter was the consultant. Walter sat down and



offered different options. President Byro said that Trustee Elliot was on that committee
back in the day. Trustee Elliot said he was new on the committee at that time.

Old Business — President Byro spoke about the Water Tower Project. He said that they
had not found anyone else to do the electrical work at all. He said that Jen from C.E.S.
had tried and tried to find others and she was not successful, so he told them to go
ahead with the $11,000 bid. President Byro had Mr. Loyd speak further on the subject
as there had been a lot going on. Mr. Loyd said that the electrician came out the
previous week and he was going to put all new conduit up the water tower to run the
power to the top. Mr. Loyd questioned him as the Village has 1” conduit running up
there now with two wires he believed to be 14-gauge to the light. He asked the
electrician if he could pull conduit through that. The electrician talked about welding
brackets for the new conduit and Mr. Loyd asked again if he could run the wires through
the existing conduit. He said he opened the box and told the electrician that there was
plenty of room for him and the electrician both to slide through it. The electrician agreed
that they would pull wire through the existing conduit. The electrician recommended
changing the light fixtures as the current fixtures take the old bulbs instead of LEDs. Mr.
Loyd said that was about it. President Byro said the electrician wanted to put a box on
top. Mr. Loyd said that box would be installed by KLM as the mixer would be hung from
the box. KLM would run the wires to the box and then the electrician would have to
connect the two wires. Kevin said that was why they were pushing for the electrician
and KLM to talk to each other. He said that they don’t want any gaps in the work.
President Byro said he didn’t know what date KLM was coming. Kevin said the
electrician would be out the following week, but KLM’s work was going to be delayed
because the IEPA wanted them to get a permit. Kevin said he has been doing water
projects for 40 years and anything inside the tower has always been done as
maintenance, so he wasn’t sure why the IEPA wanted them to get a permit to hang a
mixer. He said that the need to get a permit may delay the installation of the mixer until
Spring depending on the weather. He said that at least the electrical work would be in
place when the permit came through. Mr. Loyd said he would need at least 3 weeks’
notice to get the pressure release valves. He said that he didn’t have them brought out
because they wouldn’t be used. Kevin said he wouldn’t doubt that KLM would need 3-
weeks’ notice themselves. Mr. Loyd said that the gentleman from the lllinois Rural
Water Association wanted at least a 3-week notice when requesting the valves. Kevin
said he would make sure of that. President Byro said that the project is ongoing.

President Byro moved onto the Sidewalk Project. He said that he and Trustee M.
Hibshman had been talking about getting some sidewalks fixed in town and possibly
coming up with money to put aside for future repairs. He said he wasn’t sure how much
money. Trustee M. Hibshman said he made a list of all the different addresses in town
that need sidewalk repairs, and he realized that most of the sidewalks in town need to
be replaced. He said that he and President Byro had talked and they touched on the
biggest things. He said that over on Depot and South St, and the corner of South and
Grove Streets are really bad. He said it wasn’t quite as bad when it got to Woodlawn,
but he recommended going down that whole line and wrapping around Grove Street. He
said once you wrap around the corner, the sidewalk isn’t too bad. He said the area



where Dick Young’s handicap ramp meets the sidewalk is really bad, so he thinks that
area absolutely needs to be done. He also suggested repairing the entire east side of
Main Street as Main Street is the street everyone goes down. He also recommended
fixing the corner piece at Headon’s. He said he thinks that will be a pretty big project
based on the height of the curb and it also has the steps there. He said that the
concrete has fallen away from the corner of the building. He said he wasn’t sure how to
approach it. Trustee Ward asked if it was in pretty good shape and if it had just sunk?
Trustee Ward said it had been replaced since he has been around. Trustee Elliot asked
if it could be jacked up. Trustee M. Hibshman said maybe. He said it is a pie shaped
piece at the corner. Tr5ustee Elliot said he had someone coming to do some work down
at the park in the next couple of weeks. Trustee Ward said that they had the pad at the
fire station lifted. Trustee M. Hibshman said they could look at something like that. He
said otherwise, if they replaced that whole thing, they couldn’t put that really high curb
back in there as it isn't ADA compliant. Trustee Elliot said they were trying to eliminate
the sidewalk on both sides of the pavilion at the park district. Trustee Elliot said they
were going to jack the slab and the sidewalks up and it was going to cost less than
$4000. Trustee M. Hibshman said the sidewalk isn’t really broken, it’s just all collapsed
and it just needs to be leveled up. Trustee M. Hibshman said he would get the man’s
number from Trustee Elliot. President Byro suggested having him stop downtown if he
comes to the park district to do work. Trustee M. Hibshman said that corner has
dropped a couple of inches in the last year. President Byro said that the other thing they
needed to consider is where to get money.

Trustee Ward said that 4” thick concrete would be $15-20 per square foot to remove
and replace. That is $60-$80 per running foot. He said that what gets you is concrete
disposal. He said it either must go to the landfill or you have to find somewhere to
dump it. Trustee Kerns said to take it all the way to Rockford. Trustee Ward said it
could be taken to Rockford to be recycled, but if it has any brick in it, they won't take it.
Trustee Ward said that if a concrete contractor knows of a place where they can take it,
they are tight-lipped about where that is. President Byro said he would talk to Treasurer
Payton and maybe they could get something started. Trustee M. Hibshman asked if the
Village should try to get it quoted so the project can start the first part of Spring. Trustee
Ward said that it will have to go out for bids as it will cost well over $20,000. He said he
doesn’t know the footage, or if the Main St sidewalk would go all the way to Route 38,
but he would guess the total cost would be $80,000-$100,000. Trustee Elliot said that
Main Street heading from Grant north to Route 38 looks pretty decent. Trustee Ward
said that at corners, ADA ramps would have to be installed and that would cost $25-$30
per square foot for ADA ramps. Trustee M. Hibshman said that the Board could sit and
think about Main St, but South and Depot Streets need to be fixed as they are bad.
Trustee Ward said that one thing that had been discussed in the past regarding this
block of Main St was redoing the sidewalk and pushing it back. He said that would
require easements or right of ways from the owners of the property but that could allow
for angled parking on both sides of the streets. Trustee M. Hibshman said there wasn’t
much room for that. Trustee Ward said that was why the sidewalks would have to be
pushed back. Trustee M.Hibshman said there was much room for businesses to give
up. Trustee Ward said they were talking about the east side of the street. He said that
they talked about it when Lyle Headon had his steak fries and there was no room for



people to park. Trustee Ward said that if the Village was going to redo the whole
sidewalk, then that conversation should be revisited because now would be the time to
do it if the Village wants more parking on Main St. He said that it only had to be pushed
back a couple of feet.

Trustee M. Hibshman asked if the Board wanted to get something going now for Depot
and South Streets. President Byro asked if he was talking now, in November? Trustee
M. Hibshman said yes, maybe get it quoted as he thought it would be under $20,000.
Trustee Ward said that now he was talking smaller quantities and there is a cost of
mobilization to haul stuff in, get fired up and bring all the forms and the equipment. A
smaller project is usually higher unit cost. President Byro asked Trustee Ward if he
thought it was too late to do it and Trustee Ward said yes, he wouldn’t attempt it now.
He said now the Village would be getting into cold weather service with the concrete.
Trustee M. Hibshman said he wasn'’t talking about doing the work now but just getting
pricing to have the work done next Spring. Trustee Hopkins said that if the monies are
found, could probably get it quoted out for a February/March time frame.

President Byro moved on to the South Street Water Line Project. Kevin said that it was
going out for bid that week. He said they were trying to get the absolutely cheapest
price that they could by letting the contractors decide if they wanted to do the work this
year depending on the weather or push it into next Spring to have it completed by the
middle or end of May. He said that they are looking for contractors that might want
something to do yet this year. He said that the underground stuff can be done until there
is 2 feet of frost in the ground. Kevin said they had set up a bid opening for November
21, 2025. Trustee Ward asked if that was just South Street or if it included any valve
work. Kevin said it was just the two corners. Trustee Ward said that his concern with
that was ripping up the pavement and not restoring it and they would have to maintain
gravel. Kevin said he understood that, but his point was that shortly after the work was
finished, it would be frozen anyway. Trustee Ward stated that the gravel would be
shoveled out with the plows. Kevin said that if the Board wanted him to put it off, he
would. He was just looking to get the best pricing. Trustee Ward asked what everyone
else’s opinion was. Mr. Loyd said plowing would be a pain. He said that plows would
drop in and hit the edges of the asphalt. He said that he puts his cutting blade pretty
much right on the road to try to remove as much as he can and the shoes hold the
weight. Trustee Ward asked Trustee Kerns his opinion as he plows, too. Trustee Kerns
said he doesn't like taking a year and a half to do a project. He said that if the Village
can get it done, then get it done. Trustee Hopkins said that if the Village can save
money, then save money. President Byro said he agreed with Trustee Kerns. Trustee
Kerns said it might be a little tougher to plow, but the last couple of years there hadn’t
been much snow. President Byro said to go ahead with it. Kevin said the next thing
would be the bid opening on November 21 at 10 am.

President Byro moved onto the Village sign. He said he asked his sign guy to create an
image to show what the Village sign would look like at the corner where the Hueber sign
is. President Byro asked if that was what Trustee M. Hibshman had in mind. He said it
was, but he had a conversation with Mr. Hueber and Mr. Hueber said good luck dealing
with the person who owns that corner property. Mr. Hueber wondered who owned the



corner property across the street. Trustee M. Hibshman said he didn’t know what was
going on with that property but it looks bad. President Byro asked for clarification and
Trustee M. Hibshman was referring to the Schermerhorn property. Mr. Hueber thought it
might be easier to approach that property owner than it would to approach the Bergs.
Trustee Kerns said that he thought that was all highway right up to that building. Trustee
Ward said the Village would probably have some issues with IDOT. Trustee M.
Hibshman said there was already a big metal post there. Trustee Kerns said that had
been there for 80 years as there used to a gas station there. Trustee M. Hibshman said
they had also talked about doing something over by the grain elevator. Trustee Ward
said he spoke to the owner, and the owner said he would be willing to have a
conversation about it. He purchased 2 acres on the side of the grain elevator and there
is additional land there as well. Trustee M. Hibshman said that would be the best spot
for it. He said the spot where the Hueber sign is would be the easiest spot, but when the
corn was high people wouldn’t be able to see it. Trustee Hopkins said that with setbacks
from IDOT, it would also be tucked behind the building on the corner if one is coming
from the east. Trustee M. Hibshman said he wanted to keep pushing to get a sign
somewhere, so if the grain elevator owner is willing to talk, Trustee M. Hibshman would
be willing to talk to him. Trustee Ward asked if it would be about the size of the Holcomb
Bank sign. President Byro said he thought so. He said there were 2 different sizes and
the Board decided on the bigger size. Trustee M. Hibshman said that the sign in Malta
is just too small. He told Trustee Ward that if he could set up a meeting with the elevator
owner, he would talk to him. President Byro said he would as well. Trustee M.
Hibshman said if the Village could rent a spot, they could put the sign there. He said
power would be the tricky part. Trustee Ward said that a question for the sign people
would be what size service is needed. President Byro said he had that information. He
asked if anyone else had any ideas. Trustee Elliot asked about the setback from the
road. Trustee Ward said he didn’t know. Aaron Moore said 120 feet from side to side.
Trustee Ward asked if the sign was outside the IDOT right of way, would there be
additional setbacks. Trustee M. Hibshman observed that Holcomb Bank’s sign is pretty
close to the road. Aaron said that a lot of towns have an ordinance that says the
setback for signage is 10 feet off property lines. Trustee Ward said that on the north
side of 38 is county property, not Village. Trustee Elliot asked about CHS as the top of
the hill by Beck Rd. Trustee Ward said that isn’t Village property, either. President Byro
said he is still looking for ideas.

President Byro said that the last thing he wanted to talk about was that in their meeting
with OCEDC, he and Trustee Elliot learned that some communities in this area have
gotten some good grants for their downtowns. The Village applied for one 2-3 years ago
and didn’t get it. Mount Morris just got $3 million for their downtown and Shabbona got
$1.3 million. There is money around to do these projects. It's called an ITEP
Streetscapes Grant. He said that it is not open again until next year as it is offered every
2 years. He said that the Village got turned down last time and the lady from Mount
Morris said they got turned down 5 times before they got their grant. He said that the
grant cover streets, sidewalks, moving things, and Trustee M. Hibshman said he
thought it included buildings as well. President Byro said this is something he would like
to pursue. It's an 80% grant, so the Village would have to come up with 20%. Trustee



Ward if it was state or Federal funds. Kevin said it was both. President Byro said that
he is looking for more information and they would be going to the next meeting to see
what they could learn.

President Byro said that was all he had to say. He introduced the bills. Trustee Hopkins
made a motion to pay the bills. Trustee Elliot seconded the motion. Trustees J.
Hibshman, Ward, Elliot, M. Hibshman, Kerns and Hopkins voted yea. Bills were
approved.

President Byro asked if anyone else had anything to bring up. No one did.

Trustee Hopkins made a motion to adjourn. Trustee Ward seconded the motion.
Meeting ended at 7:43:42 pm.



